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61G18-30.001 Disciplinary Guidelines.

(1) When the Board finds an applicant or licensee whom it regulates under Chapter 474, F.S., has committed any of the acts set forth in Section 474.213(1), F.S., which are felonies of the third degree as well as violations of the Practice act, it shall issue a final order imposing appropriate penalties, using the following disciplinary guidelines:

	(a) Practicing veterinary medicine in this State unless a person holds an active license to practice veterinary medicine pursuant to Chapter 474, F.S.
	In the case of an applicant, the usual action of the Board shall be to request the Department issue a Cease and Desist Order, which will remain in effect until licensure is granted, plus an administrative fine from three thousand dollars ($3,000.00) to five thousand dollars ($5,000.00) and, upon eligibility for licensure, imposition of up to a one (1) year probation. In the case of a non-licensed veterinarian practicing veterinary medicine in the State of Florida the Board shall request that the Department issue a Cease and Desist Order and an administrative fine from three thousand dollars ($3,000.00) to five thousand dollars ($5,000.00) plus one (1) year probation if the subject should become licensed in the State of Florida. In the case of a non-veterinarian practicing veterinary medicine in the State of Florida the board shall request that the Department issue a Cease and Desist Order and impose an administrative fine from three thousand dollars ($3,000.00) to five thousand dollars ($5,000.00) for each count.

	(b) Using the name or title “veterinarian” when the person has not been licensed pursuant to Chapter 474, F.S. 
	In the case of an applicant, the usual action of the Board shall be to request that the Department issue a Cease and Desist Order, which shall remain in effect until licensure is granted, and an administrative fine of one (1) thousand dollars ($1,000.00) and, upon issuance of a license, imposition of one (1) year probation.

	(c) Presenting as one’s own license the license of another. 
	The usual action of the Board shall be to request that the Department issue a Cease and Desist Order, and an administrative fine of five thousand dollars ($5,000.00) and, upon issuance of licensure, imposition of one (1) year probation.

	(d) Giving false or forged evidence to the Board, or a member thereof, for the purpose of obtaining a license. 
	In the case of an applicant, the usual action of the Board shall be denial of licensure. The usual action of the Board in the case of a licensee for a first offense shall be to impose a penalty of an administrative fine of three thousand dollars ($3,000.00). For a second or subsequent offense, the usual action of the Board shall be to impose a penalty of an administrative fine of five thousand dollars ($5,000.00) and revocation of any license obtained based on false or forged evidence. 

	(e) Using or attempting to use a veterinarian’s license which has been suspended or revoked. 
	In the case of an applicant, the usual action shall be denial of licensure and to request the Department issue a Cease and Desist Order. The usual action of the Board in the case of a licensee shall be to impose revocation if the subject’s license has been suspended and an administrative fine of five thousand dollars ($5,000.00).

	(f) Knowingly employing unlicensed persons in the practice of veterinary medicine. 
	The usual action of the Board shall be to impose a penalty of up to one (1) year probation and an administrative fine of three thousand dollars ($3,000.00). For a second or subsequent offense, the usual action of the Board shall be to impose a penalty of up to one (1) year suspension, followed by up to two (2) years probation and an administrative fine of five thousand dollars ($5,000.00).

	(g) Knowingly concealing information relative to a violation of Chapter 474, F.S. 
	The usual action of the Board shall be to impose a penalty of six (6) months probation and an administrative fine of one thousand dollars ($1,000.00). For a second or subsequent offense, the usual action of the Board shall be to impose a penalty of up to one (1) year probation and an administrative fine of three thousand dollars ($3,000.00). 

	(h) Obtaining or attempting to obtain a license by fraud. 
	Revocation or denial of licensure plus an administrative fine of five thousand dollars ($5,000.00).

	(i) Selling or offering to sell a diploma conferring a degree in veterinary medicine or a license to practice veterinary medicine in this state.
	An administrative fine of five thousand dollars ($5,000.00) and revocation.

	(j) Leading the public to believe that the the person is licensed as a veterinarian or is engaged in the licensed practice of veterinary medicine without a valid active license.
	In the case of an applicant, the usual action of the Board shall be to request the Department issue a Cease and Desist Order, which will remain in effect until licensure is granted, plus an administrative fine of two thousand dollars ($2,000.00) and, upon eligibility for licensure, imposition of one (1) year probation. In the case of a non-licensed veterinarian the Board shall request that the Department issue a Cease and Desist Order and an administrative fine of two thousand dollars ($2,000.00) plus one (1) year probation if the subject should become licensed in the State of Florida. In the case of a non-veterinarian the Board shall request that the Department issue a Cease and Desist Order and an administrative fine of two thousand dollars ($2,000.00) for each count.

	(k) Knowingly operating a veterinary establishment or premises without a valid premise permit.
	The usual action of the Board shall be an administrative fine of two thousand dollars ($2,000.00). The Board shall also require that a premise permit be obtained or request the Department to issue a Cease and Desist Order.


(2) When the Board finds an applicant, licensee, or permittee whom it regulates under Chapter 474, F.S., has committed any of the acts set forth in Section 474.214(1), F.S., it shall issue a Final Order imposing appropriate penalties which are set forth in Section 474.214(2), F.S., using the following disciplinary guidelines:

	(a) Attempting to procure, or procuring, a license to practice veterinary medicine or a permit to own and operate a veterinary establishment, by bribery, by fraudulent misrepresentation, or through an error of the Department or the Board.
	In the case of an applicant, the usual action of the Board shall be denial of licensure or permit. The usual action of the Board in the case of a licensee or permittee shall be to impose a penalty of revocation and an administrative fine from three thousand dollars ($3,000.00) to five thousand dollars ($5,000.00).

	(b) Having a license to practice veterinary medicine revoked, suspended, or otherwise acted against, including the denial of licensure, by the licensing authority of any jurisdiction, including any agency or subdivision thereof.
	The usual action of the Board for a first offense shall be the imposition of discipline concurrent with that of the other jurisdiction to suspension or denial of the license until the license is unencumbered in the jurisdiction in which disciplinary action was originally taken, and an administrative fine ranging from $1,000.00 to $2,500.00. The usual action of the board for a second offense shall be the imposition of discipline concurrent with that of the other jurisdiction to revocation or denial of the license, and an administrative fine ranging from $2,500.00 to $5,000.00.

	(c) Being convicted or found guilty, regardless of an adjudication, of a crime in any jurisdiction which directly relates to the practice of veterinary medicine or the ability to practice veterinary medicine.
	In the case of an applicant, the usual action of the Board shall be denial of licensure. The usual action of the Board in the case of a licensee or permittee shall be to impose a penalty ranging from an administrative fine of two thousand dollars ($2,000.00) and up to one (1) year probation to an administrative fine of five thousand dollars ($5,000.00) and revocation.
For a second offense, the usual action of the Board shall be to impose a penalty ranging from an administrative fine of five thousand dollars ($5,000.00) and up to two (2) years suspension followed by two (2) years probation to an administrative fine of five thousand dollars ($5,000.00) to revocation.

	(d) Making or filing a report or record which the licensee knows to be false, intentionally or negligently failing to file a report or record required by state or federal law, willfully impeding or obstructing such filing, or inducing another person to impede or obstruct such filing. Such reports or records shall include only those which are signed in the capacity of a licensed veterinarian. 
	The usual action of the Board shall be to impose a penalty of one (1) year suspension followed by one (1) year probation and an administrative fine from three thousand dollars ($3,000.00) to five thousand dollars ($5,000.00) per count or violation.
For a second or subsequent offense, the usual action of the Board shall be to impose a penalty of a two (2) year suspension followed by two (2) years probation and an administrative fine of five thousand dollars ($5,000.00) to revocation.

	(e) Advertising goods or services in a manner which is fraudulent, false, deceptive, or misleading in form or content. 
	In the case of violations, which are not resolved by the Board’s rule concerning minor violations, the usual action of the Board shall be to impose anadministrative fine of one thousand dollars ($1,000.00).
For a second or subsequent offense, the usual action of the Board shall be to impose a penalty of two (2) years probation and an administrative fine of two thousand dollars ($2,000.00) for each count.

	(f) Violating a statute or administrative rule regulating practice under this chapter or chapter 455, F.S., or a lawful disciplinary order or subpoena of the Board or the Department.
	The usual action of the Board shall be to impose a penalty ranging from a reprimand and an adminstrative fine of two thousand dollars ($2,000.00). For a second or subsequent offense, the usual action of the Board shall be to impose up to two (2) years suspension followed by two (2) years probation and an administrative fine of five thousand dollars ($5,000.00). In the case of a subpoena or disciplinary order, the usual action shall be to impose a penalty ranging from up to two (2) years suspension followed by up to two (2) years probation and an administrative fine of four thousand dollars ($4,000.00).
For a second or subsequent offense, the usual action of the Board shall be to impose a penalty ranging from up to three (3) years suspension followed by up to three (3) years probation to revocation and an administrative fine of five thousand dollars ($5,000.00).

	(g) Practicing with a revoked, suspended, or inactive license. 
	The usual action of the Board shall be to impose a penalty consistent with paragraph (1)(a), above. In the case of a licensed veterinarian being found late in payment of renewal fees, the veterinarian shall have thirty days from receipt of official notice from the Department of Business and Professional Regulation to become current in payment of fees to the Department and pay an administrative fine of five hundred dollars ($500.00). If the delinquent veterinarian does not respond to the Department within the above mentioned thirty days, the Board shall request that the Department issue a Cease and Desist Order, which shall remain in effect until license renewal fees and an administrative fine of one thousand dollars ($1,000.00) are paid. 

	(h) Being unable to practice veterinary medicine with reasonable skill and safety to patients by reason of illness, drunkenness, use of drugs, narcotics, chemicals, or any other material or substance or as a result of any mental or physical condition. 
	The usual action of the Board shall be to impose a penalty of suspension until such time as the licensee demonstrates rehabilitation followed by probation under such terms and conditions as set by the Board. If the individual is an applicant, the usual action shall be to deny the application.

	(i) Judicial determination of mental incompetency. 
	The usual action of the Board shall be to impose a penalty of suspension or denial of licensure until there is a legal restoration of the licensee’s competency to be followed by probation under such terms and conditions as set by the Board. 

	(j) Knowingly maintaining a professional connection or association with any person who is in violation of the provisions of Chapter 474, F.S., or the rules of the Board.
	The usual action of the Board shall be to impose a penalty of an administrative fine of three thousand dollars ($3,000.00) and one (1) year probation.
For a second or subsequent offense, the usual  action of the Board shall be to impose a penalty of an administrative fine of five thousand dollars($5,000.00) and up to two (2) years probation.

	(k) Paying or receiving kickbacks, rebates, bonuses, or other remuneration for receiving a patient or client or for referring a patient or client to another provider of veterinary services or goods. In construing this section, the Board shall deem that a referral to an entity with which the veterinarian has a contractual relationship, for the sale of non-veterinary, non-medical pet food or pet supplies, does not constitute a kickback, so long as the client is aware of the relationship.
	The usual action of the Board for those violations not disposed of by the Board’s rule concerning minor violations shall be to impose a penalty of a one (1) year probation and an administrative fine of one thousand dollars ($1,000.00) for each count.
For a second or subsequent offense, the usual action of the Board shall be to impose a penalty of two (2) years probation and an administrative fine of two thousand dollars ($2,000.00) for each count.

	(l) Performing or prescribing unnecessary or unauthorized treatment. 
	The usual action of the Board shall be to impose a penalty ranging from a reprimand to one (1) year probation and an administrative fine up to two thousand dollars ($2,000.00).
For a second or subsequent offense, the usual action of the Board shall be to impose a penalty ranging from a reprimand to two (2) years probation and an administrative fine of five thousand dollars ($5,000.00).

	(m) Engaging in fraud in the collection of fees from consumers or any person, agency, or organization paying fees to practitioners.
	The usual action of the Board shall be to impose a penalty of up to two (2) years suspension followed by one (1) year probation and an administrative fine from three thousand dollars ($3,000.00) to five thousand dollars ($5,000.00).

For a second orsubsequent offense, the usual action of the Board shall be to impose two (2) years suspension followed by two (2) years probation and an administrative fine of five thousand dollars ($5,000.00).

	(n) Attempting to restrict competition in the field of veterinary medicine other than for the protection of the public.
	The usual action of the Board shall be to impose a penalty of one (1) year probation and an administrative fine of two thousand dollars ($2,000.00).

For a second or subsequent offense, and revocation of the veterinarian’s license to practice in the State of Florida.

	(o) Fraud, deceit, negligence, incompetency, or misconduct in the practice of veterinary medicine. 
	The usual action of the Board shall be to impose a penalty ranging from one (1) year probation and an administrative fine from two thousand dollars ($2,000.00) to five thousand dollars ($5,000.00).

For a second or subsequent offense, an administrative fine of five thousand dollars ($5,000.00) and revocation of the veterinarian’s license to practice in the State of Florida.  

	(p) Being convicted of a charge of cruelty to animals. 
	The usual action of the Board shall be to impose a penalty ranging from up to two (2) years suspension followed by up to two (2) years probation and an administrative fine of four thousand dollars ($4,000.00).

For a second or subsequent offense, an administrative fine of five thousand dollars ($5,000.00) and revocation.

	(q) Permitting or allowing another to use a veterinarian’s license for the purpose of treating or offering to treat sick, injured, or afflicted animals.
	The usual action of the Board shall be to impose a penalty of up to one (1) year suspension followed by up to one (1) year probation and an administrative fine of three thousand dollars ($3,000.00). 
For a second or subsequent offense, the usual action of the Board shall be to impose a penalty of up to two (2) years suspension followed by up to two (2) years probation and an administrative fine of five thousand dollars ($5,000.00)

	(r) Being guilty of incompetence or negligence by failing to practice veterinary medicine with that level of care, skill, and treatment which is recognized by a reasonably prudent veterinarian as being acceptable under similar conditions and circumstances. 
	The usual action of the Board shall be to impose a penalty of one (1) year probation and an administrative fine from two thousand dollars ($2,000.00) to five thousand dollars ($5,000.00).

For a second or subsequent offense, the usual action of the Board shall be to impose a penalty of up to one (1) year suspension followed by two (2) years probation and an administrative fine of five thousand dollars ($5,000.00).

	(s) Willfully making any misrepresentations in connection with the inspection of food for human consumption.
	The usual action of the Board shall be to impose a penalty of up to one (1) year suspension followed by one (1) year probation and an administrative fine of four thousand dollars ($4,000.00).

For a second or subsequent offense, the usual action of the Board shall be to impose a penalty of up to two (2) years suspension followed by two (2) years probation and an administrative fine of five thousand dollars ($5,000.00).

	(t) Fraudulently issuing or using any false health certificate, vaccination certificate, test chart, or other blank form used in the practice of veterinary medicine relating to the presence or absence of animal diseases or transporting animals or issuing any false certificate relating to the sale of products of animal origin for human consumption.
	The usual action of the Board shall be to impose a penalty of ranging from up to one (1) year suspension followed by one (1) year probation an administrative fine of three thousand dollars ($3,000.00) and revocation.

For a second or subsequent offense, the usual action of the Board shall be to impose a penalty of an administrative fine of five thousand dollars ($5,000.00) and revocation.

	(u) Engaging in fraud or dishonesty in applying, treating, or reporting on tuberculin, diagnostic, or other biological tests.
	The usual action of the Board shall be to impose a penalty of ranging from up to one (1) year suspension followed by one (1) year probation to revocation and an administrative fine from three thousand dollars ($3,000.00) to five thousand dollars ($5,000.00). 
For a second or subsequent offense, the usual action of the Board shall be to impose an administrative fine of five thousand dollars ($5,000.00) and revocation.

	(v) Failing to keep the equipment and premises of the business establishment in a clean and sanitary condition or having a premise permit suspended or revoked pursuant to Section 474.215, F.S.
	The usual action of the Board shall be to suspend the premise permit until compliance with requirements followed by up to one (1) year probation and an administrative fine from one thousand dollars ($1,000.00) to five thousand dollars ($5,000.00).

For a second or subsequent offense, the usual action of the Board shall be to suspend the premise permit until compliance with requirements followed by up to three (3) years probation to revocation and an administrative fine of five thousand dollars ($5,000.00).

	(w) Practicing veterinary medicine at a location for which a valid premise permit has not been issued when required under Section 474.215, F.S.
	The usual action of the Board shall be to impose an administrative fine of one thousand dollars ($1,000.00) penalty and to require remedial education. The Board shall also require that a premise permit be obtained or the Department shall be requested to issue a Cease and Desist Order.

For a second or subsequent offense, the usual action of the Board shall be to impose an administrative fine of three thousand dollars ($3,000.00). 

	(x) Refusing to permit the Department to inspect the business premises of the licensee during regular business hours.
	The usual action of the Board shall be to impose a penalty of an administrative fine of two thousand dollars ($2,000.00), unless circumstances legally justify such action by the veterinarian and/or request that the Department issue a Cease and Desist Order.

For a second or subsequent offense, the usual action of the Board shall be to impose an administrative fine of five thousand dollars ($5,000.00). 

	(y) Using the privilege of ordering, prescribing, or making available medicinal drugs or drugs defined in Chapter 465, F.S., or controlled substances as defined in Chapter 893, F.S., for use other than for the specific treatment of animal patients for which there is a documented veterinarian/client/patient relationship. Pursuant thereto, the veterinarian shall:
	For violations involving medicinal drugs or drugs defined in chapter 465 F.S., the usual action of the Board shall be to impose a penalty ranging from a reprimand up to one (1) year suspension followed by one (1) year probation and an administrative fine from two thousand dollars ($2,000.00) to five thousand dollars ($5,000.00). For a second or subsequent offense, the usual action of the Board shall be to impose a penalty of up to two (2) years suspension followed by two (2) years probation and an administrative fine of five thousand dollars ($5,000.00). For violations involving controlled substances as defined in Chapter 893, F.S., the usual action of the Board shall be to impose a penalty of two (2) year suspension to revocation and an administrative fine of four thousand dollars ($4,000.00). For a second or subsequent offense, the usual action of the Board shall be to impose an administrative fine of five thousand dollars ($5,000.00) and revocation.

	1. Have sufficient knowledge of the animal to initiate at least a general or preliminary diagnosis of the medical condition of the animal, which means that the veterinarian is personally acquainted with the keeping and the caring of the animal and has recent contact with the animal or has made medically appropriate and timely visits to the premises where the animal is kept.
	

	2. Be available to provide for follow up care and treatment in case of adverse reactions of failure of the regimen of therapy.
	

	3. Maintain records which document patient visits, diagnosis, treatment, and other relevant information required under this chapter. The documented patient/client/veterinarian relationship cited in Section 474.214, F.S., is herein defined as a veterinarian’s record of a client’s animal which documents that the veterinarian has seen the animal in a professional capacity within a period of 12 months or less. 
	

	(z) Providing, prescribing, ordering, or making available for human use medicinal drugs or drugs as defined in Chapter 465, F.S., controlled substances as defined in Chapter 893, F.S., or any material, chemical, or substance used exclusively for animal treatment.
	For violations involving medicinal drugs or drugs defined in Chapter 465, F.S., the usual action of the Board shall be to impose a penalty of up to two (2) years suspension followed by two (2) years probation and an administrative fine from two thousand dollars ($2,000.00) to five thousand dollars ($5,000.00).
For a second or subsequent offense, the usual action of the Board shall be to impose a penalty of three (3) years suspension followed by three (3) years probation up to an administrative fine of five thousand dollars ($5,000.00) and revocation. For violations involving controlled substances as defined in Chapter 893, F.S., the usual penalty will be revocation and an administrative fine up to five thousand dollars ($5,000.00).

	(aa) Failing to report to the Department any person the licensee knows to be in violation of Chapter 474, F.S., or the rules of the Board or Department.
	The usual action of the Board shall be issuance of a reprimand and an administrative fine of up to one thousand dollars ($1,000.00).

For a second or subsequent offense, the usual action of the Board shall be to impose a penalty of up to one (1) year probation and an administrative fine up to three thousand dollars ($3,000.00).

	(bb) Violating any of the requirements of Chapter 499, F.S., the Florida Drug and Cosmetic Act; 21 U.S.C. ss. 301-392, the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act; 21 U.S.C. ss. 821 seq., the Comprehensive Drug Abuse Prevention and Control Act of 1970, more commonly known as the Federal Drug Abuse Act; or Chapter 893, F.S. 
	The usual action of the Board shall be to impose a penalty of up  to two (2) years probation and an administrative fine from two thousand dollars ($2,000.00) to five thousand dollars ($5,000.00).
For a second or subsequent offense, the usual action of the Board shall be up to two (2) years suspension followed by three (3) years probation and an administrative fine of five thousand dollars ($5,000.00).


	(cc) Failing to provide adequate radiation safeguards. 
	The usual action of the Board shall be issuance of a reprimand plus the violator must pay cost of investigation and provide proof of compliance with the rule.

	(dd) Failing to perform any statutory or legal obligation placed upon a licensee.
	The usual action of the Board shall be a penalty ranging from the issuance of a reprimand and an administrative fine of one thousand dollars ($1,000.00) up to revocation and an administrative fine of up to five thousand dollars ($5,000.00).

For a second or subsequent offense, the usual action of the Board shall be to impose a penalty of a reprimand to revocation and an administrative fine of five thousand dollars ($5,000.00).

	(ee) Failing to keep contemporaneously written medical records as required by rule of the Board. 
	The usual action of the Board shall be issuance of a reprimand and up to one (1) year probation, and an administrative fine of up to two thousand dollars ($2,000.00).

For a second or subsequent offense, the usual action of the Board shall be a penalty of two (2) years probation and an administrative fine of five thousand dollars ($5,000.00).

	(ff) Prescribing or dispensing legend drug as defined in Chapter 465, F.S., including any controlled substance, inappropriately or in excessive or inappropriate quantities.
	The usual action of the Board shall be to impose a penalty of an administrative fine from two thousand dollars ($2,000.00) to five thousand dollars ($5,000.00) and up to two (2) years probation.

For a second or subsequent offense, the usual action of the Board Board shall be to impose a penalty of up to one (1) year suspension followed by three (3) years probation and an administrative fine of five thousand dollars ($5,000.00).

	(gg) Practicing or offering to practice beyond the scope permitted by law. 
	The usual action of the Board shall be issuance of a reprimand up to one (1) year probation, and an administrative fine from one thousand dollars ($1,000.00) to three thousand dollars ($3,000.00).
For a second or subsequent offense, the usual action of the Board shall be two (2) years probation and an administrative fine of up to five thousand dollars ($5,000.00).

	(hh) Delegating professional responsibilities to a person when the licensee delegating such responsibilities knows or has reason to know that such person is not qualified by training, experience, or licensure to perform them.
	The usual action of the Board shall be to impose a penalty of an administrative fine from one thousand five hundred dollars ($1,500.00) to three thousand dollars ($3,000.00) and up to one (1) year probation.

For a second or subsequent offense, the usual action of the Board shall be to impose a penalty of up to one (1) year suspension followed by up to two (2) years probation to revocation and an administrative fine of five thousand dollars ($5,000.00).

	(ii) Presigning blank prescription forms. 
	The usual action of the Board shall be to impose a penalty ranging from up to one (1) year suspension of the veterinarian’s license followed by up to one (1) year probation to revocation and an administrative fine of up to two thousand dollars ($2,000.00).

For a second or subsequent offense, the usual action of the Board shall be to impose a penalty ranging from up to two (2) years suspension followed by up to two (2) years probation to revocation and an administrative fine up to five thousand dollars ($5,000.00).

	(jj) Failing to report to the Board within 30 days, in writing, any action set forth in paragraph (b), that has been taken against the practitioner’s license to practice veterinary medicine by any jurisdiction, including any agency or subdivision thereof.
	The usual action of the Board shall be the issuance of a reprimand and an administrative fine from one thousand dollars ($1,000.00) to three thousand dollars ($3,000.00).

For a second or subsequent offense, the usual action of the Board shall be the issuance of a reprimand and an administrative fine of five thousand dollars ($5,000.00).

	(kk) Aiding or assisting another person in violating any provision of this chapter or any rule adopted pursuant thereto.
	The usual action of the Board shall be to impose a penalty from one (1) to three (3) years probation and an administrative fine from one thousand dollars ($1,000.00) to five thousand dollars ($5,000.00).

For a second or subsequent offense, the usual action of the Board shall be to impose a penalty of up to two (2) years suspension followed by up to three (3) years probation to revocation and an administrative fine of up to five thousand dollars ($5,000.00).

	(ll) Failing to respond within 60 days after receipt of a request to provide satisfactory proof of having satisfactory proof of having participated in approved continuing education programs. 
	The usual action of the Board shall be suspension until the Board receives acceptable response to the request and an administrative fine from one thousand dollars ($1,000.00) to five thousand dollars ($5,000.00).

For a second or subsequent offense, the usual action of the Board shall be suspension until the Board receives an acceptable response to the request and an administrative fine of five thousand dollars ($5,000.00).

	(mm) Failing to maintain accurate records or reports as required by this chapter or by federal or state laws or rules pertaining to the storing, labeling, selling, dispensing, prescribing, and administering of controlled substances.
	The usual action of the Board shall be an administrative fine from one thousand five hundred dollars ($1,500.00) to five thousand dollars ($5,000.00) and up to two (2) years probation.

For a second or subsequent offense, the usual action of the Board shall be up to three (3) years probation and an administrative fine from three thousand dollars ($3,000.00) to five thousand dollars ($5,000.00).

	(nn) Failing to report a change of address to the Board within 60 days thereof. 
	The usual action of the Board shall be an administrative fine of one thousand dollars ($1,000.00). For a second or subsequent offense, the usual action of the Board shall be an administrative fine of three thousand dollars ($3,000.00)

	(oo) Failure of the responsible veterinarian or permittee to report a change of premises ownership or responsible veterinarian within 60 days thereof.
	The usual action of the Board shall be an administrative fine of one thousand dollars ($1,000.00).

For a second or subsequent offense, the usual action of the Board shall be an administrative fine of three thousand dollars ($3,000.00).

	(pp) Failing to give the owner of a patient, before dispensing any drug, a written prescription when requested.
	The usual action of the Board shall be an administrative fine of two thousand dollars ($2,000.00).

For a second or subsequent offense, the usual action of the Board shall be an administrative fine from three thousand dollars to five thousand dollars ($5,000.00).


(3) When the Board finds an applicant, licensee, or permittee whom it regulates under Chapter 474, F.S., has committed any of the acts set forth in Section 455.227(1), F.S., it will issue a Final Order imposing appropriate penalties within the ranges recommended in the following disciplinary guidelines:
	(a) Misleading, deceptive, untrue, or fraudulent representations in the practice of veterinary medicine.
	The usual action of the Board will be to impose a penalty ranging from up to one (1) year suspension followed by one (1) year probation and an administrative fine of up to two thousand dollars ($2,000.00) to revocation and an administrative fine of up to five thousand dollars ($5,000.00).
For a second or subsequent offense, the usual action of the Board shall be a penalty of up to two (2) years suspension followed by up to two (2) years probation to revocation and an administrative fine from three thousand dollars ($3,000.00) to five thousand dollars ($5,000.00).

	(b) Intentionally violating any rule adopted by the Board or the Department. 
	The usual action of the Board will be to impose a penalty ranging from the issuance of a reprimand and an administrative fine from two thousand dollars ($2,000.00) to five thousand dollars ($5,000.00) to revocation and an administrative fine of up to five thousand dollars ($5,000.00).
For a second or subsequent offense, the usual action of the Board shall be a penalty ranging from up to one (1) year probation to revocation and an administrative fine from three thousand dollars to five thousand dollars ($5,000.00).

	(c) Being convicted of a felony which relates to the practice of veterinary medicine.
	The usual action of the Board will be revocation and an administrative fine of up to five thousand dollars ($5,000.00).

	(d) Being adjudicated mentally incompetent.
	The usual action of the Board will be consistent with paragraph (2)(i), above. 

	(e) The license has been obtained by fraud or material misrepresentation of a material fact.
	The usual action of the Board will be revocation of the license and an administrative fine of up to five thousand dollars ($5,000.00).

	(f) Use of a Class III or a Class IV laser device or product, as defined by federal regulations, without having complied with the rules promulgated pursuant to Section 501.122(2), F.S., governing the registration of such devices with the Department of Health and Rehabilitation. 
	The usual action of the Board will be an administrative fine of up to three thousand dollars ($3,000.00). For a second or subsequent offense, the usual action of the Board shall be an administrative fine of five thousand dollars ($5,000.00).

	(g) Having been found liable in a civil proceeding for knowingly filing a false report or complaint with the Department against another licensee.
	The usual action of the Board will be to impose a penalty ranging from the issuance of a reprimand up to two (2) years suspension followed by up to two (2) years probation and an administrative fine from two thousand dollars ($2,000.00) to five thousand dollars ($5,000.00).
For a second or subsequent offense, the usual action of the Board shall be to impose a penalty of up to three (3) years suspension followed by up to three (3) years probation to revocation and an administrative fine from three thousand dollars ($3,000.00) to five thousand dollars ($5,000.00).

	(h) Making deceptive, untrue, or fraudulent representations in or related to the practice of a profession or employing a trick or scheme in or related to the practice of a profession.
	The usual action of the Board will be to impose a penalty ranging from up to two (2) years suspension followed by up to two (2) years probation and an administrative fine of up to three thousand dollars ($3,000.00) to revocation and and an administrative fine of up to five thousand dollars ($5,000.00).
For a second or subsequent offense, the usual action of the Board shall be to impose a penalty ranging from up to three (3) years suspension followed by three (3) years probation to revocation and an administrative fine of five thouasand dollars ($5,000.00).

	(i) Exercising influence on the patient or client for the purpose of financial gain of the licensee or a third party.
	The usual action of the Board will be up to two (2) years suspension followed by up to two (2) years probation and an administrative fine from three thousand dollars ($3,000.00) to five thousand dollars ($5,000.00).
For a second or subsequent offense, the usual action of the Board shall be up to three (3) years suspension followed by up to three (3) years probation to revocation and an administrative fine of five thousand dollars ($5,000.00).


(4) Based upon consideration of aggravating or mitigating factors present in an individual case, the Board may deviate from the penalties recommended in subsections (1), (2) and (3), above. The Board shall consider as aggravating or mitigating factors the following:

(a) The danger to the public;

(b) The length of time since the violation;

(c) The number of times the licensee has been previously disciplined by the Board;

(d) The length of time licensee has practiced;

(e) The actual damage, physical or otherwise, caused by the violation;

(f) The deterrent affect of the penalty imposed;

(g) The affect of the penalty upon the licensee’s livelihood;

(h) Any effort of rehabilitation by the licensee;

(i) The actual knowledge of the licensee pertaining to the violation;

(j) Attempts by licensee to correct or stop violation or refusal by licensee to correct or stop violation;

(k) Related violations against licensee in another state including findings of guilt or innocence, penalties imposed and penalties served;

(l) Actual negligence of the licensee pertaining to any violation;

(m) Penalties imposed for related offenses under subsections (1), (2) and (3), above;

(n) Pecuniary benefit or self-gain enuring to licensee;

(5) Penalties imposed by the Board pursuant to subsections (1), (2) and (3), above, may be imposed in combination or individually, and are as follows:

(a) Issuance of a reprimand;

(b) Imposition of an administrative fine not to exceed five thousand dollars ($5,000.00) for each count or separate offense;

(c) Restriction of the authorized scope of practice;

(d) Placement of the licensee on probation for a period of time and subject to such conditions as the Board may specify, including requiring the licensee to attend continuing education courses or to work under the supervision of another licensee;

(e) Suspension of a license;

(f) Revocation of a license;

(g) Denial of an application for licensure or a permit to own and operate a veterinary establishment; and

(h) The taking and passing of a clinical competency specialty examination.

(6) The provisions of subsections (1) through (5), above, are not intended and shall not be construed to limit the ability of the Board to informally dispose of disciplinary actions by stipulation, agreed settlement, or consent order pursuant to Section 120.57(3), F.S.

(7) The provisions of subsections (1) through (5), above, are not intended and shall not be construed to limit the ability of the Board to pursue or recommend the Department pursue collateral civil or criminal actions when appropriate.

Rulemaking Authority 455.2273(1), 474.206 FS. Law Implemented 455.2273, 474.213, 474.214 FS. History–New 12-8-86, Amended 5-27-91, Formerly 21X-30.001, Amended 8-18-94, 5-13-96, 2-18-01, 7-20-03, 7-30-06, 8-20-09, 2-24-14, 11-2-20, 1-3-21.
61G18-30.002 Minor Violations, Notice of Noncompliance.

(1) In accordance with section 455.225(3), F.S., and in lieu of a formal disciplinary proceeding when a complaint of first time minor violation is received, the Department may provide a licensee with a notice of noncompliance. Failure of a licensee to take action in correcting the violation within the 15 days after notice may result in the institution of regular disciplinary proceedings.

(2) A notice of noncompliance may be issued when there has been no economic or physical harm to a person; when the public health, safety or welfare has not been endangered and when there is no evidence or allegation of deliberate deception.

(3) A first time offense of the following violations may be disposed by a notice of noncompliance:

(a) False, deceptive or misleading advertising in violation of section 474.214(1)(e), F.S., or rule 61G18-21.001, F.A.C., so long as the veterinarian has received no compensation for services sought by the client as the result of the advertising or if compensation has been received, so long as it has been returned to the client;

(b) Failure to include in an advertisement for free or discounted services the statement required by section 455.24, F.S.;

(c) Failure to display a license, premises permit or mobile clinic permit as required by section 474.216, F.S.

(d) Practicing veterinary medicine with a delinquent license for less than 90 days.

(e) Operating a veterinary establishment without a premises permit for less than 60 days.

(f) Failure to notify board of a change in responsible veterinarian within 30 days.

(g) Failure to report a change of address to the Board within 90 days.

(h) Failure to report in writing to the Board a criminal conviction or plea of nolo contendere, regardless of adjudication, within 30 days, pursuant to sections 455.227(1)(t) and 474.214(1)(c), F.S.

(4) A second or subsequent offense shall result in the issuance of a citation pursuant to rule 61G18-30.003, F.A.C., if available, or disciplinary proceedings pursuant to section 455.225, F.S. In cases where more than two (2) of these offenses are present, disciplinary proceedings pursuant to section 455.225, F.S., shall be instituted.

Rulemaking Authority 474.206, 455.225(3) FS. Law Implemented 455.225(3) FS. History–New 5-9-90, Formerly 21X-30.002, Amended 12-30-97, 8-26-19.
61G18-30.003 Citations.

(1) Definitions.

(a) “Citation” means an instrument which meets the requirements set forth in section 455.224, F.S., and which is served upon a subject for the purpose of assessing a penalty in an amount established by this rule;

(b) “Subject” means the licensee, trainee, or applicant alleged to have committed a violation designated in this rule.

(2) In lieu of the disciplinary procedures contained in section 455.225, F.S., the Department is hereby authorized to dispose of any violation designated herein by issuing a citation to the subject within six months after the filing of the complaint which is the basis for the citation.

(3) The procedures described herein apply only for an initial offense of the alleged violation. Subsequent violation(s) of the same rule or statute shall require the procedures of section 455.225, F.S., to be followed. In addition, should an initial offense for which a citation could be issued occur in conjunction with violations not described herein, then the procedures of section 455.225, F.S., shall apply.

(4) Pursuant to section 455.224, F.S., the Board sets forth below those violations for which there is no substantial threat to the public health, safety, and welfare; or, if there is a substantial threat to the public health, safety, and welfare, such potential for harm has been removed prior to the issuance of the citation. The Board hereby designates the following as citation violations which shall result in a penalty of five hundred dollars ($500.00) unless otherwise noted:

(a) False, deceptive or misleading advertising in violation of section 474.214(1)(e), F.S., or rule 61G18-21.001, F.A.C., so long as the veterinarian has received no compensation for services sought by the client as the result of the advertising or if compensation has been received, so long as it has been returned to the client;

(b) Failure to include in an advertisement for free or discounted services the statement required by section 455.24, F.S.;

(c) Failure to display a license, premises permit or mobile clinic permit as required by section 474.216, F.S.

(d) Practicing veterinary medicine or operating a veterinary establishment when the license has become delinquent.

(e) Failure to notify the Board of a change in responsible veterinarian.

(f) Failure to obtain or complete the continuing education required for licensure renewal within the biennium.
1. If the licensee responds to the audit letter and the required continuing education hours were not completed prior to the end of the biennium, but the licensee provides proof of completion within 60 days of receipt of initial audit letter, the licensee shall be issued a Notice of Non-compliance. These hours shall not be used for license renewal during the biennium in which they were earned.

2. If the licensee responds to the audit but cannot provide proof that the required continuing education hours were completed, the licensee will be issued a citation in the amount of $250. The licensee shall be required to complete the hours needed within 6 months of the date of issuance of the citation. These hours shall not be used for license renewal during the biennium in which they were earned.

3. If the licensee fails to respond to the continuing education audit the licensee will be issued a citation in the amount of $500. The licensee shall be required to complete the hours needed within 6 months of the date of issuance of the citation. These hours shall not be used for license renewal during the biennium in which they were earned.

4. If a licensee responds to the continuing education audit with an explanation and documentation of an illness or hardship which prevented them from completing the required continuing education within the biennium the Board, or the Board Chair when delegated by the Board, may grant up to a 6 month extension during which the licensee shall be required to complete the hours needed. These hours shall not be used for license renewal during the biennium in which they were earned.

(g) Signing and distributing to others invalid or incomplete official certificates of veterinary inspection for the intrastate sale of dogs or cats.

(h) Operating a veterinary establishment without a premises permit for more than 60 days but less than one year. The fine shall be $100 per month, to a maximun of $1,200.

(5) Prior to issuance of the citation, the Department must confirm that the violation has been corrected or is in the process of being corrected. If the violation is a substantial threat to the public health, safety, and welfare, such potential for harm must be removed prior to issuance of the citation.

(6) Once the citation becomes a final order, the citation and complaint become a public record pursuant to chapter 119, F.S., unless otherwise exempt from the provisions of chapter 119, F.S. The citation and complaint may be considered as aggravating circumstances in future disciplinary actions pursuant to rule 61G18-30.001, F.A.C.

(7) The Board of Veterinary Medicine shall, at the end of each calendar quarter, promulgate a report of the citations issued which report shall contain the name of the subject, the violation, fine imposed, whether the subject complied with the citation upon it becoming a final order, and the number of subjects who chose to follow the procedures of section 455.224, F.S.

Rulemaking Authority 455.224, 474.206 FS. Law Implemented 455.224 FS. History–New 1-1-92, Formerly 21X-30.003, Amended 7-4-95, 5-13-96, 2-17-02, 6-16-14, 12-30-14, 6-30-16.
61G18-30.004 Time Limitation for Payment of Administrative Fine.

In cases where the Board imposes an administrative fine and costs for a violation of chapter 455 or 474, F.S., or the rules promulgated pursuant thereunder, the fine or costs shall be paid within thirty (30) days from the date the order of the Board is filed.

Rulemaking Authority 455.227(2), 474.206 FS. Law Implemented 455.227(2) FS. History–New 8-16-94.
61G18-30.005 Terms of Probation.

Any licensee determined to have violated the provisions of chapter 474, F.S., may be ordered to serve probationary terms including any or all of the following:

(1) Probationer’s license may be suspended for a period of time set by the Board, the suspension may be stayed so long as the licensee complies with the terms of probation established.

(2) The licensee may be placed on probation for a period of time set by the Board. Any deviation from the requirements of the probation without prior written consent of the Board shall constitute a violation of probation. The probationary period shall automatically terminate at the end of the prescribed time, but only if all terms and conditions have been met. Otherwise, the probation shall be terminated only by order of the Board upon proper petition of the licensee, supported by evidence of compliance with the Final Order.

(3) The licensee’s probation may be subject to the following terms and conditions:

(a) Probationer shall comply with all state statutes and rules pertaining to the practice of Veterinary Medicine chapters 455 and 474, F.S., and rule chapter 61G18, F.A.C.

(b) Probationer shall appear before the Board at the first meeting after the probation commences, at the last meeting of the Board preceding termination of probation, and at such other times as requested by the Board.

(c) In the event Probationer leaves the State of Florida for a period of thirty days or more, or otherwise does not engage in practice in Florida, Probationer’s probation shall be tolled and shall remain in a tolled status until Probationer returns to active practice in the State of Florida, at which time the probationary status shall resume. Probationer must keep current residence and business address on file with the Board. Probationer shall notify the Board within ten (10) days of any changes of said addresses.

(d) Probationer shall practice only under the supervision of a veterinarian fully licensed under chapter 474, F.S., to be approved by the Board or its designee. Probationer shall have the supervising veterinarian with the Probationer at the Probationer’s first probation appearance before the Board. Prior to approval of the supervising veterinarian by the Board or its designee, the Probationer shall provide to the supervising veterinarian a copy of the administrative complaint filed in this case. A failure of the Probationer or the supervising veterinarian to appear at the scheduled Board meeting shall constitute a violation of the Board’s Final Order. Prior to the approval of the supervising veterinarian by the Board or its designee, Probationer shall submit to the Board or its designee a current curriculum vitae and description of the current practice from the proposed supervising veterinarian. Said materials shall be received in the Board office no later than fourteen (14) days before Probationer’s first scheduled probation appearance. Probationer shall be responsible for ensuring that the supervising veterinarian submits the required reports. The responsibilities of the supervising veterinarian shall include:

1. Submit quarterly reports in affidavit form which shall include:

a. Brief statement of why Probationer is on probation.

b. Description of Probationer’s practice.

c. Brief statement of Probationer’s compliance with terms of probation.

d. Brief statement of Probationer’s relationship with supervising veterinarian.

e. Detail any problems which may have arisen with Probationer.

2. Review a percentage of Probationer’s patient records selected on a random basis at least once every two (2) weeks.

3. Review all patient records treated for/with certain conditions.

4. Consult with Probationer on all cases involving specified conditions.

5. Review Probationer’s use of pharmaceutical agents.

6. Report to the Board any violations by the Probationer of chapters 455, 893, and 474, F.S., and the rules promulgated pursuant thereto.

(e) Probationer shall submit quarterly reports in affidavit form to the Board. The reports shall include:

1. Brief statement of why Probationer is on probation.

2. Practice location.

3. Description of current practice stating type and composition.

4. Brief statement of compliance with probationary terms.

5. Description of relationship with the supervising veterinarian.

6. Description of any problems.

7. Certified copies of a number of patient records of patients examined or treated by the Probationer within the previous sixty (60) days with all identification of patient suitably obliterated.

(f) Probationer shall obtain a number of Continuing Education credits in specific areas, within a number of months/year(s), in addition to those hours required for renewal of licensure.

(g) Probationer shall see a psychiatrist, psychologist or psychotherapist approved by the Board or its designee at least the specified number of visits for evaluations and treatment.

(h) Probationer shall comply with the requirements of the PRN program and shall provide releases to medical records sufficient to satisfy state and federal laws.
(i) Medical Records Probation: When the violation is related to the failure to keep adequate medical records the Board may impose probation as specified below to monitor and improve the respondent’s medical record keeping.
1. The probationer shall complete an approved continuing education course on Medical Record Keeping of at least 4 hours within 30 days of the final order. Respondent must submit information on the course to be taken to the Board Office and it must be approved by the Board Chairman or his designee before the respondent takes the course.
2. As a condition of probation, Respondent shall submit themselves to two (2) unannounced collections of medical records by a Department investigator per year during Respondent’s probationary period. During each collection, the Department investigator shall be permitted to select and copy, at the Respondent’s expense, the medical records of five (5) patients of the investigator’s choosing; said records shall be submitted to the Board office for review and approval by a board member assigned by the Board Chairman. Respondent shall facilitate said inspections in whatever manner required by the Department. Records must include records that were created on or after the date of the final order.
3. If the reviewer finds records to be not in compliance with Rule 61G18-18.002, F.A.C. a copy of  the reviewers report will be provided to the Respondent and the Board and the respondent will be required to appear for an additional probation appearance at the next regularly schedule meeting of the Board. Violations of Rule 61G18-18.002, F.A.C. may result in disciplinary action.
4. Probationer shall appear before the Board at the first meeting after the probation commences, at the last meeting of the Board preceding termination of probation, and at such other times as requested by the Board.
5. In the event Probationer leaves the State of Florida for a period of thirty days or more, or otherwise does not engage in practice in Florida, Probationer’s probation shall be tolled and shall remain in a tolled status until Probationer returns to active practice in the State of Florida, at which time the probationary status shall resume. Probationer must keep current residence and business address on file with the Board. Probationer shall notify the Board within ten (10) days of any changes of said addresses.
(4) Probationer shall pay an administrative fine or costs in the amount set by the Board, said fine to be paid or costs to the Board within a certain number of days of the effective date of the Final Order.

Rulemaking Authority 455.227 FS. Law Implemented 455.227, 455.2273 FS. History–New 1-18-95, Amended 3-20-95, 7-15-21.
61G18-30.006 Mediation.

(1) “Mediation” means a process whereby a mediator appointed by the department acts to encourage and facilitate resolution of a legally sufficient complaint. It is an informal and nonadversarial process with the objective of assisting the parties to reach a mutually acceptable agreement.

(2) The board finds that mediation is an acceptable method of dispute resolution for the following violations as they are economic in nature or can be remedied by the licensee:

(a) Failure for the licensee to timely pay any assessed administrative fines or costs;

(b) Failure of the licensee to timely respond to a continuing education audit.

Rulemaking Authority 455.2235 FS., as amended by Chapter 94-119, Laws of Florida. Law Implemented 455.2235 FS., as amended by Chapter 94-119, Laws of Florida. History–New 1-5-95.
